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the Argentine bridge of the 1930’s, and continuing on to Shawnee,
in Johnson county, where it connected with the old Santa Fé trail.
This road did not receive official recognition until October 27, 1859,
when it was regularly laid out and designated on the official plat as
the “Santa Fé road.” It reached the Kaw where Nineteenth street,
Kansas City, now meets the river.!® This ferry soon gave way to a
toll bridge.

At the 1858 session of the territorial legislature a company desig-
nated as the Wyandotte Bridge Company applied for a charter for a
bridge across the Kansas river at a point not closer than two, nor
more than six, miles from the mouth of that stream. One section of
the act authorized and empowered the company to establish and
maintain a free ferry across the river at or near the point selected
for the erection of the bridge,'* which was built that year.

Wyandotte was a natural center for roads from all directions. A
road to the west from Wyandotte connected with the Fort Leaven-
worth-Fort Gibson road; one to the south connected with the Santa
Fé road; another to the west intersected the Fort Leavenworth-Fort
Riley road. These were the more important ones. Another, estab-
lished in 1855, which ran from the Wyandotte ferry across the Kan-
sas river, passing Joel Walker’s, Charles Garrett’s and Noah Zaines’
claims and on to the Parkville ferry, was made a territorial road; **
another, established the same time, ran from Wyandotte, via Jack-
sonville, to Ozawkie, the act requiring the commissioners who laid
out the road to erect “finger boards” along the route where neces-
sary.’® Another ran to Quindaro, Leavenworth and Atchison; '*
another to Mound City, via the Wyandotte bridge, Aubrey, New
Lancaster and Ballard’s ford,'> and still another from Wyandotte,
via Shawneetown, New Lancaster, Trading Post, Potosi and Barnes-
ville, to Fort Scott, following the old military road as nearly as prac-
ticable.1®

Up to 1858 the ferries took care of the commerce and traffic over
these routes. By that time those of vision could see that bridges
must supplant the ferries. That vear a charter was secured from the
legislature by the Wyandotte Bridge Company for a bridge over the

10. County clerk, Wyandotte county, Road Record A, p. 4.

11. Private Laws, Kansas, 18568, pp. 48-50,

12, General Statutes, Kansas, 1855, p. 972.

13. Ibid., pp. 978-979,

14. Laws, Kansas, 1860, p. 688,

15. Ibid., 1861, p. 249.
16. Ibid., 1865, p. 144,
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Kaw river, to be located within one mile from the mouth and which
should not impede free navigation of the river.!" During the Civil
War period there was not much bridge construction, and the toll
bridges and ferries had things pretty much their own way.

After the close of the War the era of bridge building in Wyandotte
commenced. On August 1, 1865, the Wyandotte Bridge and Ferry
Company applied for a charter, which was issued, granting them the
right of constructing and establishing one or more bridges or ferries,
or both, over the Kansas river between the mouth of the river and
the western boundary of the county, and also of operating a ferry
or bridge in the Missouri river and opposite to and across the mouth
of the Kansas river. This charter was filed with the secretary of
state, September 29, 1865.18

In 1866, 1867 and 1872 bridges were built at Wyandotte, and also
a number constructed later, no less than a dozen having been erected
across the Kaw river up to the 1930’s.1%

Above Armstrong’s another ferry was started by Quindaro in-
terests and was known as the Eureka ferry, located on the SEY,
S.18, T. 11, R. 25. This ferry was inaugurated in an effort to share
in the trade Wyandotte city was drawing from territory to the south
of the Kaw river. Both towns surveyed and opened up roads
through the Shawnee reservation. Committees were appointed by
the two towns to confer and fix upon a point where a joint ferry for
both could be established. The location suggested by Wyandotte
was rejected by Quindaro as being too far east, and the location
designated by Quindaro was rejected as being too far west. These
locations were about a mile apart, and compromise was wrong in
principle. This resulted in free ferries for both.2® Exact date of
starting the Eureka ferry has not been learned. On March 30, 1857,
Aaron W. Merrill and Abelard Guthrie entered into the following
written agreement:

“This agreement the 30th day of March a.p. 1857, between Aaron W.
Merrill of the one part and Abelard Guthrey in behalf of the Quindaro Com-
pany of the other part, witnesseth: That the said Merrill in consideration of
the covenants hereinafter contained, covenants and agrees to and with the
said Guthrey for said Guthrey for said company, that he will keep the said

company’s ferry, called “Eureka” ferry, lately established on the Kansas river
about four miles below Delaware ferry, and tow the said company's flat boat

17. Private Laws, Kansas, 1858, pp. 51-568,

18. Corporations, v. 1, pp. 44, 45, in Archives division, Kansas State Historical Society.
19. Ibid., pp. 67, 68; Wyandotte Gazette, 1866, 1867, 1868,

20. Kansas City Journal, February 17, 1882,
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across and ferry over all the teams and wagons, horses, cattle and mules and
ferry across all persons coming to said ferry, and do all such ferrying free of

charge to the persons coming and requiring to be ferryed across said river.
And that he will at all times provide sufficient help to do such ferrying of
persons, horses, cattle, mules, teams and wagons and goods in expeditious and
skillful manner, and that he will keep and protect the said companies boats
and keep them in good repair at his own expense, except extraordinary repairs
occasioned without his fault.

“And in consideration of the premices the said Guthrey promises and agrees
that the company will pay to said Merrill for such services as aforesaid the
sum of one hundred dollars per month so long as the said Merrill shall continue
to do such ferrying, and bestow the care on said companys boats and keeping
them in repair as aforesaid. The said Guthrey further agrees that the said
company will furnish the said Merrill the said boats, namely a flat boat and
a skiff in good repair. Also 2 picks and 2 shovels for the use of said ferry to
be kept and used by said Merrill and to be returned to said company when he
shall leave said ferry. The payments aforesaid to be made in cash every month.

“The said Merrill also agrees to cut out the road on the south side of the
river and make it good and convenient for teams to pass up and down from
the river to the bluff and bridge the stream in the ravine, and also on the north
side up to where the ravine crosses the road and to make a bridge over the
stream if needed.

“Either party to have the privilege to rescind this contract and agreement
at the end of month by giving one week’s previous notice to the other party
oi the intention to rescind said agreement.

“In witness whereof the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals the
day and year first aforesaid in presence of

“ABELARD (GUTHREY
“A. W. MERRILL.”

On April 14, 1859, Merrill brought suit in the district court of the
third judicial distriet in and for the Territory of Kansas, Wyandotte
county, against Charles Robinson, Abelard Guthrie and Samuel N.
Simpson under the name of the Quindaro Company, setting up this
contract, alleging that he worked seven months thereunder and that
he was paid but $348.20, leaving a balance due him of $357.80. The
case i1s No. 24 on the Wyandotte county dockets.

The defendants answered claiming nonperformance on the part
of Merrill and alleging that he neglected the business, failed to have
sufficient help, did not cut out the roads, and that he charged, col-
lected and pocketed monies from those who used the ferry, for all
of which they asked damages of Merrill.

It took six years to bring the ease to trial, but on October 2, 1865,
a jury trial was had, seven witnesses were sworn, and the plaintiff
was given a judgment against Guthrie of $630.24. Guthrie appealed
to the supreme court, where the case was reversed and sent back for
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a new trial®' October 8, 1867, the case was dismissed without
prejudice and an execution issued against Merrill for costs.

In the spring and summer of 1857 the people of Quindaro built a
road to Lawrence, laid out one to Osawatomie, and established a
free ferry at what is now John H. Matton’s place, with a view of
competing for the wholesale trade of the territory; 22 another ran to
Salina, via Lawrence and Topeka; 2* another was laid out in 1860
and ran to Shawnee,?* and another was laid out leading from Quin-
daro across Wyandotte county to the Kansas river. This was known
as the Madison Corvett road, and the road plat on file in the Wyan-
dotte county clerk’s office shows it crossing the Kansas river in the
SE'4 of 8. 18, T. 11, R. 25, at a point designated on the map as
“the old ferry.” This would be the location of the Eureka ferry,
out of which grew the lawsuit with Abelard Guthrie for wages.

The Quindaro and Shawnee Bridge and Road Company was
granted a charter by the legislature of 1860 to construet a bridge
across the Kansas river at or near the crossing of the territorial road,
located, or to be located, under an act to establish certain territorial
roads, approved February 7, 1859; also to open and improve said
territorial road by planking, macadamizing or turnpiking the same.
Capital stock of the company was placed at $70,000, with shares
$25 each. Construction work on the bridge was to begin within two
years, and completion of the bridge was limited to five years. The
company was authorized to establish and maintain a ferry across
the Kansas river at or near the point selected for the erection of
the bridge, and for that purpose was authorized to receive gifts,
grants and donations from individuals or corporations. The act
also provided that, upon the applieation of twenty persons living
along the line of the territorial road, the commissioners should cause
a strip of land to be laid off, not exceeding five miles in width, the
road running as near as possible through the center of this strip.
The commissioners were also instructed to have the proposition sub-
mitted to a vote of the taxpayers who resided on said strip, to as-
certain their stand on the proposed subscription to the capital stock
of the company, those living on the north side of the Kaw voting at
Quindaro, while those to the south of the river voted at Shawnee-
town. If a majority of taxpayers voted in favor of the subseription,

21. Abelard Guthrie vs. Aaron W, Merrill, 4 Kansas 159
. Wyandotte Herald, July 6, 1876.
'8. Laws, Kansas, 1860, p. 585.
Ibid., 1860, p. 588,
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the board was authorized to levy a tax and issue bonds payable in
ten years, bearing interest not to exceed ten per cent yearly. The
last section of the act provided that when the bonds should be is-
sued by the commissioners, the owners of the said real property so
taxed should be entitled to all the privileges and immunities of a
stockholder, for every twenty-five dollars so levied; and as fast as
any taxpayer should pay the sum of twenty-five dollars he should
have issued to him a certificate of a share in the company.?® It
would be interesting to know the result of this road building project.
Wyandotte newspapers in the Historical Society’s collection for this
period are not complete, and no mention of this election has been
found.

The next ferry up stream was the Chouteau ferry. Just when this
enterprise was started and its exact location have not been learned.
In 1820 Francis and Cyprian Chouteau built a trading house near
present Bonner Springs, known as the “four houses.” Some years
later, about 1825, they built new trading posts farther down the
river for the purpose of trading with the Delawares and Shawnees.
This new location was said by various authorities to be from four
to ten miles from the mouth of the Kansas, these extremes of dis-
tance being reckoned by following the river or taking the most
direct route by land. This site, however, was near and opposite the
Indian village of Secondine, and present town of Muncie, but was on
the south side of the river 2 and, according to Grant W. Harrington,
has been “definitely located on S. 13, T. 11, R. 24, directly north of
the town of Turner. John C. Fremont outfitted here in 1842 for his
first exploring trip to the west.” Franklin G. Adams, first secretary
of the Kansas State Historical Society, in 1880 had an interview with
Frederick Chouteau, who said that the trading houses were on the
north side of the river.?” Another authority, John C. McCoy, an old
resident of Johnson county, Kansas, and later of Jackson county,
Missouri, who, with his father, the Rev. Isaac MecCoy, and other
members of the McCoy family, surveyed many of the Indian reser-
vations in Kansas and Oklahoma, places the trading houses on the
south side of the river. Mr. McCoy in 1830 surveyed the western
boundary of the Delaware reservation, stating that the survey was

‘.‘.:':._ Private Laws, Kansas, 1860, pp. 25-29. “County Clerk’s record of Wyandotte county
for this period not preserved. No record of an election. Road plat book fails to show any
such road. Think it fell by the wayside.”"—Note of Grant W. Harrington to author, May

i. R. I. Holcombe, History of Vernon County, Mo., p. 164; Andreas, History of Kansas,

7. Kansas Historieal Collections, v. 8, p. 425.
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begun on September 6 and completed late that year. He wrote:
“Our party started from Fayette, Mo. . . . We passed up to
Chouteau’s trading house on the south side of the Kansas river and,
crossing there, passed on to Fort Leavenworth.” =

Grant W. Harrington, of Kansas City, states that Charles Carpen-
ter, an old resident of Wyandotte county, related to him that his
parents in 1857 started from Wyandotte to Lawrence by boat, and
that their boat grounded at Chouteau’s ferry. Passengers were then
obliged to leave the boat and complete their journey overland.

Unfortunately the history of this ferry has not been preserved.
Aside from an occasional mention nothing else has been found. It
is likely the ferry was operated at or near this trading house, and
for that reason it is included here. In 1862 several members of the
Chouteau family obtained a charter for a ferry to be located in the
neighborhood of present Bonner Springs, the history of which will
be found in its proper place in this article. In view of this new
Chouteau ferry location it is likely the ferry near Muncie was aban-
doned.

In 1867 another ferry was established in this immediate vicinity,
being located somewhere between the mouth of Muncie creek and a
point due east from the town of Muncie. On June 8 of that year
John Smith, William Rutledge, William Rawson, William J. Gault,
Jeremiah H. Materson and Charles 8. Glick were granted a charter
under the name of the Muncie Ferry Company. This ferry was de-
scribed as being on the “land of John Smith on the Kansas river,
opposite sections 14 and 15, T. 11, R. 25 east.” [Error as to range;
should be 24.] Capital stock of the company was placed at $500,
with shares $25 each. The principal office of the company was to be
at the town of Muncie. This charter was filed with the secretary of
state June 12, 1867.2* No further mention of this enterprise has
been located.

According to Grant W. Harrington old settlers recall that a rock
landing was made for this ferry, and that the road leading down
to it was known as the “Ferry road.” Old residents of Wyandotte
county say that the north and south road between sections 14 and
15, T. 11, R. 24, which now stops at highway 32, formerly extended
south between sections 22 and 23 to the Kansas river to a ferry
where the Shawnee Indians crossed, and that it was known as the
“Shawnee ferry.” This would bring it into the NW14 of 8. 23, T.

28, Ibid., v. 5, p. 802.
29, Corporations, v. 1, p. 350.
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11, R. 24. Nothing has been found in print or on the maps to verify
this 30

The Grinter ferry, about eight and one-half miles west of the
Kansas-Missouri boundary, was the next above Muncie. This was
the earliest ferry established on the Kansas river. Moses Grinter,
according to an account of a Grinter reunion,® came to Kansas
in 1828, and served for a time in the regular army at Cantonment
Leavenworth. He was then appointed to operate a ferryboat across
the Kansas river to provide a crossing for a military road to run
from Cantonment Leavenworth to Fort Gibson. He arrived at his
destination, the Indian village of Secondine, in January, 1831, se-
lected a suitable location and started a rope ferry on the NW14 S,
28, T. 11, R. 24, near the eastern edge of the Delaware reservation as
established after the coming of the Wyandottes. No complete scale
of ferry charges has been located for this crossing. However, Mary
Walton Blanchard, wife of Ira D. Blanchard, in charge of the Dela-
ware Baptist mission, under date of December 11, 1836, wrote: “We
are 16 miles from Shawnee and the Kaw is 14 mile wide between us
and the feriage for a single person 50 cents and for a wagon 2
dollars.” 52

In a letter of Rev. Isaac McCoy, in the Kansas State Historical
Society archives, dated at Shawnee, Jackson county, Missouri,
July 22, 1833, and addressed to Rev. Dr. Bolles, corresponding
secretary and treasurer of the Baptist mission board, at Boston,
is mention of a ferry of the Delawares, as follows:

@

A week ago yesterday I had expected to Baptize a Delaware at
the Delaware Settlements, but I previously sickened and have been two weeks
confined to my bed. After I was attacked with sickness we designed that Bro
Burch should administer baptism, but the landing near us of a S. boat with
Cholera on it so alarmed the Delawares, that they removed their ferry boat
to prevent travellers from crossing to them. e

The above item probably refers either to Grinter’s or Toley's
ferry.

The first location of the Shawnee Methodist mission was about
three miles to the east, while the Delaware council house and
Delaware mission were about one and one-half miles to the north.
Grinter built a log cabin on the bank of the river, having cultivated
lands in sections 20 and 21, a few rods to the north of the ferry.
A few years later he married Ann Marshall, a Delaware woman.

80. Grant W. Harrington, statement, February, 1933,

81. Kansas City Times, September 26, 1932,
32, Pratt MSS., Kansas State Historical Society.
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They raised a family of ten children, all of whom were born in this
home. Moses Grinter was a native of Ohio, born about 1805,
coming to this country from Kentucky when about 23 years
of age®® He died June 12, 1878, and is buried at Grinter chapel,
about three miles north of the ferry.

Delaware crossing was a noted one in preterritorial and territorial
times, and was known under various names, such as Grinter’s ferry,
Military ferry, Delaware crossing, Secondine crossing, ete. Early
military expeditions from Fort Leavenworth to Forts Gibson and
Scott erossed the Kaw at this place, as did countless others along
the old Santa Fé trail from Leavenworth to military posts and to
points in the mountains.** A post office had been established at
this point in 1849, with James Findley as postmaster. He was
still in charge in 1854. There were two or three trading posts there
at this time, also a government blacksmith shop for the Indians.
Isaac Munday was in charge of this work, having been employed
as blacksmith for the Indians as early as 1843, first at the Fort
Leavenworth agency and later at the Kansas agency.®

Up to 1842 the ferry was reached by Indian trails from both sides
of the river, but that year a military road was laid out from Fort
Leavenworth to the newly established Fort Scott. The road leading
to the old Grinter ferry site is now known as the Defries road, and
the old crossing can be reached by following highway 32 about a
mile west of Muncie to its junction with the Defries road. Up the
hill about one-fourth of a mile and on the west side of the Defries
road is the old brick home of the Grinters. Mrs. H. C. Kirby, last
surviving member of the Grinter family, definitely located the old
ferry site. “The landing was right down there,” she said, pointing
to the right of the intersection of the Defries road with highway
32. “The blacksmith shop and the stores were on this side of the
ravine. On the other side of the ravine was the Indian village of
Secondine.” 3¢

A plat of Shawnee lands of T. 11, R. 24, shows a road running
from Grinter’s ferry to the southwest across S. 29, crossing the NW
corner of 8. 32, the NE corner of S. 31, and connecting in that
corner with a road reaching Toley’s ferry.

In 1855 the territorial legislature established a road from West-

88, Census, Wyandotte county, 1860, p. 48, in Archives division, Kansas State Historical
Society, lists Moses Grinter as 656 years of age, born in Ohio.

84. Kansas Historical Collections, v. 7, pp. 203, 578.

85. New York Tribune, June 28, 1854 ; Kansas orical Collections, v. 1-2, p. 258, v. 18,
pp. 728, 829, 831, 832.

36. Interview with Mrs. H. C. Kirby by Grant W. Harrington.
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port, Mo., via Captain Joseph Parks’*” and the Shawnee manual
labor school, to intersect the Fort Leavenworth road north of and
near the Quaker mission farm by way of James Findley's to the

Grinter crossing.®s

Percival G. Lowe, in his Five Years a Dragoon, relates many in-
teresting incidents in connection with this old ferry.

Toley’s ferry was the next one above Grinter’s and about two
miles distant. Just when this ferry started has not been learned,
but it must have been soon after the arrival of the Delawares.
Troops for the Mexican war crossed there in 1846. The ferry in
1854 was located on the SE14 S. 31, T. 11, R. 24, as shown on a
plat of Shawnee Indian lands. The landing on the south side of
the river was on land owned by the Toley family, while the landing
on the opposite side of the river was on the same quarter section.
Toley, who operated the ferry, was a Shawnee Indian, and said to
be quite intelligent. He was a leader in his neighborhood and was
a member of Pascal Fish’s church. Other members of the Toley
family owned land about twenty-five miles farther west, in present
Jefferson county. Henry Tiblow owned land less than three-fourths
of a mile north of the ferry, and a north and south road running
directly east of his farm led directly to the ferry.1®

The following, written by a member of Doniphan’s expedition,
1846, probably refers to this ferry:

“The Shawnee and Delaware tribes of Indians have settled here. The
Shawnees have fine farms, and are quite civilized people; the Delawares are a
little behind them. Both tribes speak the English language more or less.
They keep a ferry boat here, in which we crossed the river. The keeper of the
boat said he had made four hundred dollars this season by the crossing of
emigrants bound to Oregon. We purchased a beef steer of them for four
dollars, paying for it ourselves, for Uncle Sam finds us no beef.” 41

A later mention of this ferry is found in the diary of Hugh
Campbell,** for 1857, who was a member of Col. Joseph E. John-
ston’s staff in surveying the southern boundary of Kansas, which
relates having crossed the river on Toley’s ferry.

7. _(_'hif’f .Ju:_mnln_l-’zukn was a member of the Shawnee tribe. He was once a resident
of Michigan :|‘|1([ is said to e enjoyed the confidence of Gen. Lewis Cass. In 1854 he owned
hlmnl JT‘\.llll‘ Shawnee reservation, deseribed as the north half and the southeast quarter of
S. 27, T. 11, R. 25, His ne is ineluded in a list of voters of Johnson county for 1857. His

seeurred early in 1860, according to the Topeka State Record, February 25, of that year.
(feneral Statutes, Kansas, 1855, pp. 978, 974

39. This name is spelled variously, as Tola, Tula, Toola, Tooley, Toley, Tulev, etc.

. Kansas Historical Collections, v. 8, pp. 251, 255, 250; Bhawnee Indian Reservation
Lands in Kansas, Treaty of 1854, Plat of T. 11, R. 24.

41. Jacob 8. Robinson, 4 Journal of the Sunta Fe Erpedition under Colonel Doniphan,
p. 8.

42. Kansas Historical Quarterly, v, 1, p. 108.
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The following advertisement appeared in the Kansas Weekly
Herald, Leavenworth, early in May, 1857, and ran for several
months:

“TOOLEY’'S FERRY
On the Kansas River,

And nearest route from Leavenworth to
Westport, and to the Shawnee Lands
On Cedar and Mill Creeks

“There is now in operation a good ferry boat at Tooley’s, on the Kansas
river, with attentive hands to cross persons with safety and promptness. A
good boat will always be kept and no pains spared to accommodate the public.
All persons crossing the Kansas river to or from the Shawnee lands, or from
Westport and Kansas City to Leavenworth City and the northern portions of
Kansas, will find this ferry the very best and nearest route.

“May 2, 1857.”

Johnson county granted a license to this ferry in 1858, charging
860 a year for the privilege.*?

In 1859 Charles Toley received from the legislature a charter
for a ferry at or near the east line of S. 32, T. 11, R. 24, with
privileges for a mile on each side of section 32, for a period of twenty
years. A plat of Shawnee reservation lands of 1854 shows Toley’s
ferry location in the SE14 S. 31, T. 11, R. 24, the south landing
being on land of Martha Toley. This site is about two and one-
third miles above Grinter’s. Mr. Toley in 1854 owned land in the
NW14 of 8. 32, bordering the river on the south, and William
Toley had land in the NE quarter of same section. The nearest
point to the river from the east line of this section is fully a third
of a mile. Toley apparently, was seeking a new location by 1859
and must have moved his boats something over a mile down stream.

Theodore Garrett and forty others petitioned for a county road
from Silas Armstrong’s to a point near Delaware ferry, and thence
by the nearest and best route to Toley’s ferry. This petition was
approved by the county commissioners, viewers were appointed
and the road laid out. The field notes of this survey give distances
by poles and claims, and this would indicate that at this time the
“Toley” ferry was not over three-fourths of a mile above the Dela-
ware or Grinter ferry.** No further history of this ferry has been
located.

Keeler’s ferry, about three-fourths of a mile above the location
of Toley’s ferry in 1854, was the next crossing on the river. In
1860 the legislature granted Charles G. Keeler authority to main-

43. Johnson County, Commissioners Proceedings, 1868, p. 28.
44. Road Records, Wyandotte county.
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tain a ferry on the Kaw river where the range line divides ranges
23 and 24. This location is about one and one-half miles southeast
of present Edwardsville, in Johnson eounty, and immediately north
of the junction of the Southern Kansas branch and the main line
of the Atchison, Topeka & Santa Fe railroad. This act granted
gpecial privileges for one mile up and one mile down the river at
this point for a period of ten years.*® No further history located.

In 1858 I. May and fifty-five others presented a petition to the
county commissioners of Johnson county asking that a license be
granted to William Chouteau to run a ferry boat on the Kaw river,
at or near the place known as Chouteau’s ferry, and also asking
that a road be opened from Olathe to the ferry, via Monticello, and
that the road be continued on to Leavenworth city. Another peti-
tion was presented at this time by Jonathan Gore and thirty-seven
others, asking that a license be granted to W. W. Cook to establish
a ferry at the same point. After hearing the evidence it was moved
that Mr. Chouteau and Mr. Cook should each choose a representa-
tive, these two to choose a third person, all three to examine the
case and, if necessary, call to their assistance a surveyor, providing
the interested parties agree to pay all costs, the said three parties
to report to the board at its next regular term. It was moved that
Mr. Chouteau be requested to get a license to run his ferry for
three months, conditioned that if the case be decided against him
that Cook shall refund to Chouteau a sum equivalent to what he
paid for the remaining part of the term for which he procured a
license. This Mr. Chouteau did, his license for the three months
costing him $12.50.4¢ TUnder date of September 2, following, the
committee to whom was referred the petitions of W. W. Cook and
Francis Chouteau, asking for ferry licenses, made through Mr.
Holmes the following report:

“Your committee appointed by the board of county supervisors of Johnson
county, K. T, at Shawnee, on the 1st and 2nd days of July, 1858, on two
separate petitions of Wm. W. Cook and Franeis Chouteau, each asking for a
license to keep a ferry on the Kaw river at the same place.

“Report that after an examination of the lines of the lands of cach of the
aforesaid parties to the ferry landing on the south side of the river that in their
judgment Francis Chouteau has decidedly the better right to the ferry privilege
at said point. Signed this 2nd day of Sept. 1858,

“WM. HoLMEs,
“R. H. WiLL1AMS,
“J. D. ALLEN, per WnM. HoLMmEs 47

5. Private Laws, Kansas, 1860, p. 272,

46. Johnson County, Commissioners Proceedings, 1858, pp. 25, 27, 28,
47. Ibid., p. 47.
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Mr. Cook evidently was persistent, for in February, 1859, a peti-
tion signed by A. Williams and fifty-two others was presented to
the county commissioners asking that a license be granted to W,
W. Cook to keep a ferry on the Kansas river on sections 34 and 35,
T. 11, R. 23. This petition being considered by the board, the same
was granted, the fee for a license put at $50 per annum by the
board, and a license was granted Mr. Cook for three months from
the 22nd of February, 1859.1%

On March 15, following, R. H. Williams presented a petition
from John Toler, asking that the license granted to W. W. Cook
to run a ferry on the Kansas river, at or near sections 34 and 35,
T. 11, R. 23, which license was granted on the 21st of February
last, may be rescinded and the license granted to him. A petition
was also presented by W. W. Cook asking that the license granted
him might be continued. The bond of said Cook was also pre-
sented and approved by the board, and the petitions having been
considered by the board were, on motion of Mr. Storrs, laid on the
table.*®

On April 26, 1859, Franecis Chouteau petitioned for a license to
operate a ferry across the Kansas river north of Monticello. His
petition was considered by the board, and on motion of Mr. Ma-
haffie it was ordered that the board appoint a committee to investi-
gate the right of the ferry privilege, the committee to consist of
three persons. This committee was authorized to employ the county
surveyor and to meet on the ground on the 25th day of May, 1859,
and be sworn in before entering upon their duties® The report of
the committee was spread upon the record.

To ascertain to whom a certain ferry known as Chouteau’s ferry
belonged, in short, whose land the road intersects the Kansas river
at that place, the Committee set out its survey and then found
that the road beaten from Olathe via Monticello to this ferry was
three roads on the southwest quarter of S. 35 that lays on the river
and so found for Chouteau. The board approved the report and
granted to Chouteau a license to run a ferry on the said ferry
privilege, and that he pay back to Cook the rate for the unexpired
term of his license.?

The Chouteaus apparently sold or leased their ferry late in 1860,
for on November 1 Stephen S. Stuart was granted a license for a

48. Ibid., p. 102.

49, Ibid., p. 116.

50. Ibid., p. 1388.
a1, Ibid., p. 147.
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ferry at this crossing for twelve months dating from that time.
Stuart was in charge at this place in 1863, and in his application the
ferriage rates established were as follows: For each footman, 20
cents; man and horse, 50 cents; 1 horse wagon or buggy, 80 cents; 2
horses and wagon, $1; 3 horses and wagon, $1.30; 2 yoke of oxen and
wagon, $1.50; each additional span of horses or oxen, 50 cents;
mules or cattle per head, 20 cents; sheep or swine per head, 10
cents."®

This ferry was in operation in 1864, for which year they paid a
840 license fee to Johnson county.’*

On December 23, 1862, Frederick Chouteau,” William Chouteau,
Benjamin I. Chouteau, Francis Chouteau and John M. Owens?®
formed a corporation known as the Chouteau Ferry Company. The
company was capitalized at $1,000, with shares at $20 each. The
act stated that the ferry was to be located on the state road leading
from Leavenworth to Fort Scott, where the same crossed the river
at the NE¥4 of S. 35, T. 11, R. 23, of Johnson county, and is shown
in Heisler & Smith’s Atlas, page 8. This point is about three and
one-half miles north of Monticello, and about one-half mile south
of present Edwardsville, at what was called the Chouteau ferry.
The south landing was on land owned in fee simple by Frederick
Chouteau, and the landing on the opposite side of the river was on
Delaware land. This charter was filed with the secretary of state
January 8, 1863.57 On May 15, 1863, the company filed with the
state an amended charter, identical with the first, with the addition
of Talbert Kelley as one of the incorporators.”®

An advertisement of this company appeared in the Leavenworth
Daily Conservative, May 14, 1863, and mentioned that “the boat
at. Chouteau’s ferry is now in good order and ready at all times
to attend promptly to the wants of the traveling public.” Just
how long the Chouteau ferry operated has not been learned, but it is
probable it ceased operations or was sold to other parties before the
spring of 1867.

Frank I.. Chouteau, resident of Monticello township, Monticello

2. Ibid., p. 225.
563. Ibid., Book B, p. 30
. Ibid., p. 108.

. F, (lu uteau, age 55, farmer, owner of real estate valued at $59,000, personal prop-
Lrt} % 000, born in '\-[i\wnun is listed in the census of Johnson county, Kansas, 1865, p. 180.

66. John Owens was a white man who married a Delaware wife, and was adopted into
the tribe. “Wild Bill"” Hickok made his home with the Owens. Heisler & Smith, Atlas of
Johnson County, Kansas, p. 10.

57. Corporations, v. 1, pp. 204, 205,

68, Ibid., v. 1, p. 6.
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post office, Johnson county, is listed in the census of 1865, Johnson
county, page 76, as a ferry proprietor. He was 24 years of age,
listed as Indian by adoption, owned real estate valued at $350 and
personal property worth $400. He was a native of Kansas, was
married and had one child, one year of age.

“Road Record A,” page 216, county clerk’s office, Wyandotte
county, gives a plat of the “Kouns road,” which runs into Edwards-
ville from the north and extends south a half mile to the Kansas
river at a point marked “Ferry.” This is in the NE4 of 35-11-23.
Later the “G. W. Galloway road” was laid out. It starts at the
same point which it designates as the “Chouteau Ferry.” In the
petition asking for this road it is asked to have it start from “the
Shoto ferry” on the Kansas river.”

On March 25, 1867, the Campbell Ferry Company was chartered,
D. G. Campbell, J. H. Gamble, L. S. Cofley, A. J. Campbell and
Jonathan Gore being incorporators. The principal office of the
company was at Monticello, Johnson county, and the ferry was
to operate across the Kansas river at a place known as Chouteau’s
ferry, being at a point where the public highway leading from
Monticello to Leavenworth City crosses the river, the exact location
being described as the NEY of SWi4, S. 35, T. 11, R. 23E. The
capital stock was $500, in five shares of $100 each. This location
on the north side of the river is less than one-fourth of a mile south
of present Edwardsville.®®

Less than a mile upstream was the site of the next ferry. As
early as 1859 an effort was made to secure a ferry opposite Monti-
cello. That year R. W. Catherson and ninety others petitioned the
legislature for a ferry across the Kansas river®? Apparently no
ferry was established at that time. On January 19, 1863, a charter
wag secured by the Monticello Ferry Company, the incorporators
being Stephen S. Stuart, Jacob Trembly,®® Sam Garrett,®® Uriah
Garrett and Elias Garrett. Capital stock of the company was
$5,000, divided into fifty shares. The company proposed to estab-
lish a ferry at S. 34, T. 11, R. 23E., for the town of Monticello. This
charter was filed with the secretary of state January 24, 1863.%

59. Wyandotte eounty clerk, Road Reeords, v. B, p. 62; v. C, p. 80.

60. Corporations, v. 1, pp. 814, 815.

61. House Journal, Kansas, 1859, p. 150.

62. Jacob Trembly, in 1874, owned land in 8. 88, T. 11, R. 22, in Leavenworth county.

63. Sam Garrett, of Monticello township, was a white man, proslavery in sentiment,
who married a Shawnee wife and was adopted into the tribe.—Heisler & Smith, Atlas of
Johnson County, pp. 18, 44.

4. Corporations, v. 1, p. 2.
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The corporation was reorganized late in 1864, to operate “as where
the first franchise stated.” Uriah and Elias Garrett, of the first
organization, were succeeded by A. B. Bartlett and John K. Hale.
Capital stock was reduced to $1,200, with shares $20 each. The
new charter was filed with the secretary of state, December 24,
1864.%5 February 2, 1866 this company filed with the secretary of
state a copy of resolutions of the company, defining boundaries of
operation and giving the location of their ferry as being at or near
the center of S. 32, T. 11, R. 23E., and claiming privileges one mile
each way from center of section 32. It was signed by John K. Hale,
secretary of Monticello Ferry Company.%®

A state road was established in 1865 from Olathe, following the
county road to Monticello, thence on said road to the Kansas river,
and crossing at or near the center of 8. 32, T. 11, R. 23E.; thence
following as near as practicable what is known as Waite's survey,
to the city of Leavenworth.%

Henry Tiblow operated a ferry at a point opposite the station of
Tiblow, being on S. 32, T. 11, R. 23.9% Perl W. Morgan, in his
History of Wyandotte County, Kansas, page 320, in speaking of
the village of Tiblow, now Bonner Springs, says: “For many years
a ferry was operated by Henry Tiblow, a club-footed Indian and
official interpreter for the United States. He lived in a log cabin
which still stands on the west side of the city.”

On September 5, 1863, Jacob Trembly and Stephen S. Stuart were
issued a license, good for three months, for a ferry at this location,
they paying for the privilege at the rate of $40 a year. They were
operating in 1866. Their scale of ferriage charges for 1864 were as
follows: Man and horse, 25 cents; 1 horse wagon or buggy, 40
cents; 2 horse wagon or yoke of oxen and wagon, 50 cents; 4 horse
wagon or two voke of oxen and wagon, 75 cents; Additional yoke
of cattle or span of horses, 25 cents; 3 horse wagon, 65 cents; Loose
horses, mules or cattle, per head, 10 cents; Sheep or swine per head,
5 cents. Each footman, 10 cents.®®

In 1869 Thomas Dunfree and W. B. White were granted a license
to operate the ferry at Tiblow station, where the Olathe and Leaven-
worth road crosses the river, paying $10 for the privilege. Mr.

85. Ibid., v. 1, pp. 90, 81.

66. Ibid., v. 1, pp. 90, 01.

67. Lows, Kansas, 1865, p. 148.
68. Heisler & Smith’s Atlas of Johnson County, p. 8, shows this ferry.

69. Johnson County, Commissioners Procecdings, Book B, pp. 62, §
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White apparently was in charge of the ferry from 1870 on, his last
license being paid up to April 9, 1874.7°

Journal C, “Commissioners Proceedings of Wyandotte County,”
page 12, date of March 7, 1870, recites: “The board granted a ferry
license to Wm. B. White to run a ferry across the Kansas river at
Tiblow station, said White having given a sufficient bond to the
state of Kansas, for one year from Feb. 1, 1870, which was filed.”

Again on page 89, under date of March 8, 1871, the following
appears: “W. B. White was granted a ferry license to run a ferry
at Tiblow station for one year from March 6, a. p., 1871, said White
having given a good and sufficient bond to the county for the faith-
ful discharge of his duties as ferryman.”

The above two entries are the only records that can be found of
the granting of ferry licenses over the Kansas river by Wyandotte
county. Evidently 1871 saw the last of the public ferries across
that stream in this county.™

As Leavenworth county embraced all territory included in present,
Wyandotte county up to the year 1859, it is likely other licenses
for Kansas river ferries were issued by Leavenworth for Wyandotte
county enterprises.

A member of the Tiblow family owned land in S. SR RO
His land is shown on a map of the Leavenworth, Pawnee & Western
railroad and its connections in the Delaware reserve, which also
shows a wagon road connecting with Leavenworth and Wyandotte.
The Wyandotte Gazette of May 30, 1873, mentions that the ferry
at Tiblow was still in operation.

Isaac Parrish,” who owned land on the opposite side of the river
and a short distance upstream from present Bonner Springs, was
granted authority by the legislature of 1857 to establish a ferry
across the Kansas river, at the crossing of the territorial road from
Leavenworth to Peoria, in Franklin county. Steam was proposed

70. Ibid., Book B, pp. 401, 489; Book C, p. 306.

71. Letter of Grant W, Harrington to author, Feb. 10, 1983; Kansas Historical Collec-
tions, v. 7, p. 476.

Isanc Parrish was a proslavery resident of Monticello township, Johnson county. He
was born in Virginia, and lived in Ohio and Missouri before coming West. After coming to

the Indian country Shawnee Methodist mission for a number of Years,
He married a Shawnee 8 /A8 3 ito the tribe. The census of Johnson county,
vears of age, i ¥y adoption, farmer, owner of real estate listed
per: property worth $2,845, His wife was named Virginia, aged 32,
» born in Kansas, and their family consisted of five children. The plat of Shawnee
ation land for T. 12, R. 28, shows land owned by Isaac and Asenath Parrish in the
5. 5. The Parrish ferry was located about one-half mile north The “Telegraph
fram Fort Scott to Fort Leavenworth was about one mile east of Monticello, crossed
3 and ran on to iver. When the Shawnees removed to Indian territory,
family rem ind made their home with the tribe.—Heisler & Smith's
niy, p. 11; s, Johnson county, 1865, p. 78: Plat of Shawnee reser-
vation lands in Kansas.

18—8677
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as the propelling power, but the act provided that a flat boat might
he substituted when the business did not justify the use of steam.
This crossing was near the center of 8992 9 11.'R. 20K

On December 29, 1863, the Parrish Ferry Company ™ was in-
corporated, its projectors being Henry D. Smith,™ Henry Tiblow,
[saac Parrish, Charles B. Garrett and Sam. Parsons. They were
authorized to establish a ferry across the Kansas river, commencing
at a point six chains above the center of 8. 32, T. 11, R. 23. The
Janding on the south side of the river was on land owned by the
incorporators, who had written consent of owners for landing on the
north side. This location is in present Bonner Springs, on highway
7, and close to where the Leavenworth & Northwestern railroad
crosses the river.

On January 5, 1866, Isaac Parrish, president of the Parrish Ferry
Company, petitioned for a ferry license, which was not granted, it
being within the bounds of an established ferry.™®

The next ferry above the Parrish ferry was at the town of De Soto,
about six and one-half miles distant. At this point a twenty-year
license for a ferry was granted by the legislature of 1858 to G. W.
Hutchison, J. A. Finley, Brinton W. Woodward, D. W. Weir, A. D.
Searl, James F. Legate, Henry Campbell, E. 8. Lowman and Warren
Kimball. Rates of ferriage preseribed by the act were as follows:
Man and horse, 50 cents; one horse and carriage or wagon, 75 cents;
two horses and carriage or wagon, $1.00; four horses and carriage or

ragon, $1.25. Provided, the company may by by-laws, provide an
addition to the above rates of not to exceed 50 per cent.’™

In 1858 the operator of the ferry at De Soto, for some reason or
other, refused to take out a license. The sheriff of Johnson county
was sent by the county commisioners to collect the fee, threatening
to take legal steps to collect in case of refusal, yet promising to
forgive all if the ferry owner took out his license and paid for such
expense as the county had already been put to.™ Evidently the
operator refused to comply with the instructions of the commis-
sioners, for Mr. R. Potter was instructed to make complaint and
start an action against him in the name of the board.™

78. Laws, Kansas, 1857, p. 165.

74. Corporations, v. 1, p. 10; Shawnee Indian reservation lands in Kansas, treaty of 1854,
plat of T. 11, R. 28E., in archives of Kansas State Historical Society.

76. Henry Smith was born in Madison eounty, Kentucky, in March, 1819. He settled on
Mill creek, present Johnson county, April 20, 1842, He was a resident of Lawrence in 1879,

76. Johnson County, Commissioners Proceedings, Book B, p. 185,

77. Laws, Kansas, 1858, pp. 54, 56.

78. Johnson County, Commissioners Proceedings, 1858, p. 36.

9. Ibid., p. 49.
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A Mr. R. Potter, of Lexington, owned a ferry, which must have
been at De Soto, as Lexington was several miles from the river. He
applied to the commissioners of Johnson county for a ferry license,
which was issued, costing him at the rate of $20 yearly. The com-
missioners fixed the rates of ferriage to be charged by all ferries
operating in the county after July 1, 1858, as follows: Each foot-
man, 10 cents; man and horse, 25 cents; loose oxen, cows, mules
and horses, each 10 eents; loose swine and sheep, 5 cents; horse and
buggy, 35 cents; two horses or ox wagon, 50 cents; and for each
additional horse or ox attached to the team, 10 cents. For govern-
ment trains drawn by six mules, $1.30 each.®?

R. Potter’s name does not appear in the early census returns of
Lexington township.

Two years later the legislature of 1860 granted another ferry
charter for De Soto, the incorporators including six of the nine
incorporators of 1858, with the addition of J. A. Triley and Paul R.
Brooks.®! Rates of ferriage prescribed by the new act were identical
with those of the act of 185852 Whether the second company ever
functioned we have no knowledge, but there seems to be a shadow
of doubt, for the legislature of 1861 granted a fifteen-year franchise
for a ferry at this town to Warren Kimball and George W. Fraim 33
with exclusive rights for two miles up and two miles down the river 5
This firm probably made a “go” of it this time. Two years later,
in 1863, troops of a Kansas company under Capt. William Larimer
crossed the river here while on their way to Camp Williams, near
Fort Scott, and other camps, a rope ferry being in operation at
this time. 85

On January 2, 1863, the De Soto Bridge Company was chartered
for the purpose of bridging the Kaw at that point, but no bridge
was built at that time. The next effort to obtain a bridge was made
in 1867 by a joint stock company, known as the Leavenworth,
De Soto and Fort Scott Bridge Company, which eventually built a
Howe truss structure.®¢

On November 19, 1858, a petition signed by W. Christison and

. Ibid., pp. 28, 29.
Brooks was for many years a prominent resident of Lawrence.
2. Private Laws, Kansas, 1860, pp. 267, 269.
33. Geo. W. Fraim, is listed as ferryman, he being 26, native of Michigan, and owning

real estate worth $250 and personal property worth $600.—Census, Johnson county, 1860,
p- 21.

84. Laws, Kansas, 1861, p, 33.
85. Biography of William Larimer, p. 211.

56. Corporations, v. 1, p. 8; Leavenworth Daily Conservative, Jan. 1, 1867; Olathe
Murror, Bept. 1, 1867.
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iwenty-six others was presented to the Johnson county board asking
that a license be granted to Galatia Sprague, William Brown and
Jesse Hodges to keep a ferry across the Kansas river at or near
where the range line between Ranges 21 and 22 crosses the river.
This petition was considered by the board and allowed.®™ This
ferry location is about three miles upstream from De Soto. No

further history located.

Pascal Fish’s ferry was the next beyond De Soto, about nine miles
by the Kansas river and seven by land. This was one of the early
ferries on the river, being in operation when the Mexican War broke
out. In 1846 a portion of Doniphan’s expedition to Mexico crossed
the river over this ferry. Lieut. J. W. Abert, that year, set out from
Fort Leavenworth for a reconnaissance to San Diego and made his
“Camp 4” at the ferry. Under date of June 29, 1846 he wrote:

“In the river we found two large flatboats or scows, manned by Shawnee
Indians, dressed in bright colored shirts, with shawls around their heads. The
current of the river was very rapid, so that it required the greatest exertions on
the part of our ferrymen to prevent the boats from being swept far downstream.
We landed just at the mouth of the Wakaroosa creek. Here there is no per-
ceptible current; the creek is fourteen feet deep, while the river does not aver-
age more than 5 feet; and in some places is quite shoal.

“Tt was nearly 10 o'clock before all our company had crossed and was so
dark that we could scarcely see to arrange our camp; so we lay down on the
river bank and sent our horses out on the prairies to grass. We finished our
supper at 12 o’clock and lay down again to sleep; but, worn out as we were,
the mosquitoes showed us no compassion, and large hooting owls (bubo wir-
ginianus), as if to condole with us, commenced a serenade.

“The pure cold water of the Wakaroosa looked so inviting that some of us
could not refrain from plunging beneath its crystal surface; one of the flathoats
forming a convenient place from which to spring. . . 788

Fish was a cousin to Tecumseh and the Prophet. He lived about
a mile south of the river, on a road leading to Westport, Mo., and
kept a tavern, located near the center of S. 8, T. 13, R. 2382

In 1856 an association of Germans was organized at Chicago,
under the name of the Neuer Ansiediungs Verein, for the purpose
of making a settlement in the great west. In March, 1857, a loca-
tion committee selected the site of Eudora. A tract of 800 acres
was secured from the Shawnces, through Pascal Fish, their chief,
who was to receive every alternate lot. The townsite laid off was

£7. Johnson County, Commissioners Proceedings, 1858, p. 58,

88. Fmory, Notes of a Military Reconnoissance from Fort Leavenworth in Missouri to
San Diego in California, pp. 880, 890.

89. Connelley, Doniphan's Expedition, p. 142; J. Cooper Stuck’s map of Douglas county,
Kansas Territory, 1857.
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named Eudora, in honor of the chief’s daughter. The first house on
the townsite was built by Mr. Fish, who ran a hotel known as the
“Fish house”. Eudora became an incorporated town February 8,
1859.,%0

This ferry was in operation at Eudora during the fifties and
sixties. Two ferrymen were employed, one named George Brown.
The other, whose name has not been learned, kept a liquor shop
and was indicted by federal authorities for selling liquor to Shawnee
Indians in violation of United States laws.”

The Fish family must have continued the ferry business, for in
1860 Charles Fish was granted a five-year license by the legislature
to operate a ferry which was to be located at or near the mouth of
the Wakarusa, with exclusive privileges for a distance of one mile
up and one mile down the river.?? The precise location of the ferry
was on S. 4, T. 13, R. 21 E, at or very close to present Eudora. In
1864 a state road was established from Eudora, running in a
northerly direction so as to intersect the road leading from Law-
rence to Leavenworth at the nearest and most practicable point
on the road; and, also, a road from Eudora, running south to in-
tersect the Santa Fé road at Black Jack.*® Another road was laid
out from Eudora running south to the Santa Fé trail at or near
Black Jack; another ran north from the Eudora ferry landing on
the north side of the river, to intersect the Pacific railroad at the
nearest and most practicable point,** and another road started from
the Santa Fé road, near Black Jack, thence north through Eudora,
crossing the river at Eudora ferry, thence north to the Lawrence
and Leavenworth road, on the most practicable route %

A bridge across the Wakarusa, finished early in May, 1861,
diverted much travel and traffic to the Fish ferry, where it crossed
the river. This bridge, about 160 feet in length, was said to be the
best and only really substantial bridge in the county at the time.

A charter was granted the Nevada City Town Company ? by the
legislature of 1858 to operate a ferry across the Kansas river, with
special privileges for a period of ten years. Nevada was a post office
early in 1856, P. H. McGee being postmaster. Beers' Atlas of

90. Andreas, History of Kansas, p. 353.

9. Original documents, Archives division, Kansas State Historieal Society.

92. Private Laws, Kansas, 1860, p. 276.

93. General Laws, Kansas, 1861, p. 81.

94. Laws, Kansas, 1864, p. 204; Andreas, History of Kansas, p. 353.

95. Laws, Kansas, 1866, p. 226,
96. lbid., 1858, p. 67
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Douglas County, 1873, shows one J. MeGhee owned lands bordering
on the Kansas river in the SE14 of 8. 31, T. 12, R. 21. The
census of Douglas county, 1859, lists three members of the McGhee
family as settling in that locality in May, 1855, there being a total
of twelve in family of J. McGhee, five being minors. These Me-
Ghees were from Pennsylvania and Illinois, J. McGee being listed
as 64 and native of Ireland. His real estate was listed for £5,000,
and personal property at $300.°7 The ferry site was on the MeGhee
land, and the embryo town of Nevada, which never was more than
a post office, was located at the same place. It was an intermediate
point on a post route running from Leavenworth to the Sac and
Fox Agency."

In 1855 the legislature passed an act naming commissioners to
view, locate, and establish a territorial road from Leavenworth, by
way of Franklin, to Bernard’s store.”® Bernard kept a store in
Franklin county and traded with the Sacs and Foxes and other
Indians in that neighborhood. A town sprang up at that location,
called St. Bernard, which was at or near the site of Centropolis of
later date.

Two years later the legislature of 1857 granted John M. Wallace
a fifteen year privilege to operate a ferry on the Kansas river at
the point where the above-named road crossed. The ferry was to
be located within a mile of the crossing above mentioned, and
ferriage rates were prescribed as follows: Foot passengers, 10 cents
each; horse, mule, mare, gelding, ass, without a rider, 10 cents;
with rider, 25 cents; two-horse team, loaded or unloaded, 75 cents;
single horse carriage, 50 cents; each additional cow or ox, 15 cents;
each swine or sheep, 5 cents; for all freight of lumber, merchandise,
or other articles, not in teams, at the following rates: For each 1,000
feet, of lumber, $1 per 1,000 feet; for all other articles 5 cents [per
100 1bs.]

The act provided that the above rates should be amended by any
succeeding legislature.’®® Exact location of this ferry has not been
learned, but in all probability it crossed the river at a point about
north of old town of Franklin, or slightly east. Franklin was laid
out in 1855 or 1856 and was located on S. 10, T. 13, R. 20, about
three miles southeast of Lawrence of that day and slightly north of

97. Census, Douglas county, 1859, MSS,, 1860, pp. 48, 52.

98. Laws, Kansas, 1857, p. 58; Herald of Freedom, Lawrence, Feb. 16, 1856.

99. General Statutes, Kansas, 1855, p. 965.
100. Laws, Kansas, 1857, pp. 162, 168.
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the Wakarusa. A territorial fight, known as the “Battle of Frank-
lin,” occurred in this loecality on the night of June 3, 1856.1"

The next ferry up the river was “at or near the east line of Lot
2, 8 24 T. 12, R. 20 E.” In 18568 William Burtzer received a
charter from the legislature to operate a ferry at this point, with
special privileges within one-half mile on each side for a period of
twenty years.'®? This location is not over one mile from the south-
west corner of Leavenworth eounty, about two miles from Lawrence
of that day, and approximately six or seven miles above Eudora.
Perhaps this ferry site may be the location of the crossing for the
road which ran from Leavenworth to Bernard’s store, via Franklin.

Lawrence, distant about two miles from Burtzer's location, had the
next ferry. John Baldwin in 1855 was granted authority by the leg-
islature to maintain a ferry within the city, with exclusive rights for
two miles from the town, for a period of fifteen years.1®® This was
one of the noted ferries on the river, and during the time it ran did
a thriving business. John J. Ingalls, of Atchison, who had occasion
to cross the river at Lawrence while it was in use, has deseribed it
as a “swing ferry.”

The following advertisement, the first of this ferry, appeared in
the Herald of Freedom, Lawrence, June 2, 1855:

“JOHN BALDWIN, FERRYMAN,

Has just completed his new ferryboat and holds himself in readiness to take
passengers and teams over the Kansas river, opposite Lawrence, at all hours,
on application, at the usual prices.”

Another advertisement of this ferry appeared in a rival paper:

“BALDWIN'S FERRY
“Crossing the Kansas River at Lawrence

“The undersigned, having built a good and substantial ferryboat, would
inform the traveling publie, that they are prepared to earry over all passengers
and teams who may desire to cross at this point. Travelers wishing to visit
Lawrence from Leavenworth, Parkville or any other point on the Missouri
river, need not be under the inconvenience as heretofore, of going out of the
way, to cross at the Tecumseh, or Delaware ferries. We will always be at our
post and ready to wait on all who may need our services.

“Wa. N. and Joan Barpwin,” 104

A notice of this ferry given on the editorial page of the same issue
of the Free State, says:
“Messrs. Baldwins have spared no pains to make their boat a substantial

101. Kansas Historical Colle ctions, v. 8, p. 813.
102. Laws, Kansas, 1858, pp. 59, 60,

108. General Statutes, Kansas, 1856, p. 778.
104. Kansas Free State, Lawrence, June 4, 1855
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and safe one. It i= what has been greatly needed, as persons desiring to cross
the river at this place with teams, have been compelled, until now, to go 20
miles above or 30 miles below. As Leavenworth on the Missouri and Lawrence
in the interior, are the most noted towns in the territory, it is highly important,
for the interest of both, and the convenience of the traveling publie, that there
should be a direct communication between them. The ferry at this place is one
important step towards this, and we hope that the next one will be to make
a better and more direct road to Leavenworth.”

During 1855 C. W. Babcock entered into partnership with Bald-
win, this arrangement lasting about two years. The management
of the ferry, however, was left to Baldwin.1%

Robert Morris Peck, “Recollections of Early Times in Kansas
Territory,” in Kansas Historical Collections, v. 8, p. 506, says:

“We crossed the Kaw river at Lawrence on Baldwin’s ferry, a rickety flat-
boat, without guard or railing, capable of holding only one six-mule team, and
pulled back and forth by means of a rope stretched between trees on opposite
banks. The soldier men facetiously called it Baldwin's ‘steam’ ferry. The
ferryman carried his ‘steam’ in a gallon jug; and our fellows ‘did not do a
thing’ to that jug but drink all the whiskey and refill the jug with muddy Kaw
river water while the old man was busy pulling the leaky old tub across. I
expect Baldwin made some pious remarks about ‘soger men’ the next time he
hooked his bill over the muzzle of that jug to take another ‘snort,” but we
didn't stay to hear his discourse.”

Col. P. G. Lowe, of Leavenworth, in his Five Years a Dragoon,
describes the Baldwin ferry as a flatboat run by pulleys on a rope
stretched across the river and fastened to a tree on either side and
propelled by the force of the current. He wrote:

“The boat was not large enough to hold a wagon and six mules, so the
leaders were detached from the team and led around to a shallow ford higher
up the stream where one might cross on horseback or with loose animals, but
could not cross wagons. A Frenchman, married to a Delaware woman and
living with the Delaware Indians on the north side of the river, built a boat
and stretched a rope; and when I came along one day he met me two miles
north of the ferry and wanted me to cross some of my wagons on his boat. I
galloped on and found that he had made a good road and had a good boat
that would carry a wagon and six-mule team, with room to spare; so I divided
the train, going to the new ferry, about 40 rods below the old one myself with
Mr. Lanter, an assistant wagonmaster, while Mr. Beery went to the old ferry.
Just as the first wagon got on the ferry, I noticed that the old boat was on the
south side and Beery was calling the ferryman. As we were about shoving
off, the man who ran the old ferry called to me not to attempt to cross wagons
on that [the new] ferry, if 1 did, he would cut the rope and send me down
the river; and suiting the action to the word, he caught up an axe and started
at a run for the big cottonwood tree where the rope was fastened. We were
now in the stream and rapidly nearing the south bank. Standing on the front

105. Andreas, History of Kansas, p, 826,
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of the boat with pistol ready, I warned him to stop, and if he attempted to
cut the rope, I would surely kill him. The boat landed and he stopped within
10 feet of the tree. I ordered him back to his boat, at the same time asking
him what he meant. He declared that the Frenchman had no charter to run
a boat, hence no right, while he had a charter from the territorial legislature
for fifteen years. On the other hand, the Frenchman claimed that the Dela-
wares owned the land on the north side, and had just as much right to land
on the south side without any charter as the other fellow had to land on the
Delaware reservation, over which he claimed the legislature had no jurisdiction.
I ended the controversy by telling the Frenchman to cross all the wagons he
could, and that I would protect him. I told the old ferryman to get his boat in
motion quickly or I would run it with my own men, and that the ferry which
crossed the most wagons would get the most money. . . . I had the
teamster of the first wagon drive close to the tree and told him to shoot anyone
attempting to approach it. . . . Then I got aboard the old ferry and gave
the ferryman one more chance to run his own boat, and just as I was about
to let go, he and his man jumped on. He was sulky and threatened to report
me to Colonel Cooke at Lecompton. I cut him off short with the answer that
I did not care a what he did, so that he lost no time with the ferry:
and 1 told Beery to push things with the new ferry, while I stayed with the
old one, All worked with a will, but the old ferry lost two trips to start with,
and in the end the new ferry had six wagons the most. All, more than 70
wagons, were crossed in time to camp south of town before dark; whereas,
without the new ferry half of them would have camped in the bottom north
of the river. . . . I crossed many times afterwards, and each ferry worked
its best for the most money. The Frenchman generally captured the best of
it by two or three wagons. The Frenchman kept the approach to his ferry in
perfect shape so that there would be no delays, and the old ferryman kept up
the competition—result, a great saving in time and talk.”

The following, found among the papers of the Kansas State
Central Committee, a free state organization, and turned over to
the Kansas State Historical Society by James Blood, probably is a
bill of the Lawrence ferry for services. It was included in a bundle
of accounts marked “not allowed”:

Lawrence, August 26th, 1856,

War Department Dr. J. DeWitt
Aug. 26th' Mo horseman at 20eta.c o oic o tiiiaviioey o shnmsvewnes $8.40
Bug. 22 Horseman 8% 80 200 CUBL G o itoeisas v sin i o 6 e s lalaiss 17.60
Aug. 29 and 30 and 31 162 horseman 32.40
Sept. 2 and 3th 200 footman at 10 cts 20.
Sept.5and 6th 300 footmanat 10 cts........covvivniinnnrennnnns 30.
Sept. 8th 52 horseman 10.
Sept.8th 4 wagonsat 50 cts.....cococveiieireninenonns S s P 02.
Sept: 9th™ 10 footman abih GBE: (oo i o iaiossiadsaiian s ek e atsaiaass snis 00
Mept: Bth 1 waggon &l 50 Cl8. s vriis oo ivan D vanlin s winsis st e 00.7
Hent Ah B wnaaoni at Bl BE o oo mieie o Sekie s e s e e b A S
Sept. 10th 19 horseman at 20 cts
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Sept. 11th 94 horseman at 20 et8. ....ovvvniiiiinninirncuninnnnne, 18.8
Sept. 12th 72 horseman at 20 cts 14.4
Sept. 12th 11 waggons at 50 ets.....oovinniiiniiiiiiiiiiie, 05.
Sept. 13th 10 waggons at 50 ets.......ooviniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiian, 05.
Sept. 13th 12 horseman at 20 cts

Sept. 14th 11 horseman at 20 ets.........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiia.. 02.
Sept. 15th 02.
Sept. 16th 03.
Sept. 17th 27 horseman at 20 cts 05.40
Sept. 18th 1 waggon and 8 footman 00.90

$191.95

Lawrence was an important road center, and numerous state and
territorial highways either had their start from there or made the
town an intermediate point. The old Oregon and California road
passed through the county and city. The legislature of 1855 created
a territorial road which started from Leavenworth, via Lawrence
and on to Salem ;1% another, authorized in 1857, ran from Lawrence,
via the Sac and Fox agency, to Burlington;%7 another, established
in 1860, ran from Lawrence to Emporia via Clinton, Twin Mound
and Superior.'®® Six roads were established by the legislature of
1861, as follows: one from Lawrence to Osawatomie; one from Law-
rence to Paola; one from Lawrence to Wyandotte, by way of Eu-
dora, De Soto, Monticello and Shawnee; another from Lawrence
to the state line near Westport, Mo., via Franklin, Hesper and
Olathe; and another from Lawrence to Osage City, Garnett, Iola
and Humboldt; and one from Lawrence to Hiawatha,'*® this latter
road, however, not being located until 1863, when the commissioners
in charge of the work specified it was to run by way of Grasshopper
Falls, Muscotah, Oskaloosa and Kennekuk.''® A road from Law-
rence to Paola was made a state road in 18621 A number of
new roads were provided for in 1864 ; one from Lawrence to the north
line of Bourbon county, in direction of Fort Lincoln, Osawatomie and
Davis' Gap, near the Armstrong ford of Big Sugar creek and Mound
City; another from Lawrence, by way of Baldwin City, Ohio
City in Franklin county, to Garnett; another from Lawrence, via
Eudora and Olathe to the east line of Johnson county, opposite
Westport, Mo.; one from Lawrence to the north line of Bourbon

106. General Statutes, Kansas, 18565, p. 975.

107. Laws, Kansas, 1857, p. 168.

108. Ibid., 1860, p, 585,

109. Ibid., 1861, pp. 247-249.

110. Ibud., 1868, p. BB,
111. Feneral Laws, Kansas, 1862, p. 798,
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county by way of Ottawa Jones’' and Dutch Henry'’s crossing; one
from Atchison, by Springdale, to Lawrence. The law specified that
these roads should be not less than 60 nor more than 100 feet in
width.1'2 In 1865 three more were established, one running from
Lawrence to Hiawatha; another from Lawrence to Neosho Rapids;
and the next one from Lawrence to Fort Scott, via the new bridge
on the Wakarusa, thence to New Haven, and crossing the Santa
Fé road on the east line of the farm of W. P. Ramsey, thence on
the east side of Ottawa creek, via Tomberlain's and Sower’s, or as
near as practicable, and crossing Ottawa creek at Copple’s ford,
thence on as straight a line as practicable to Ottawa, thence to
Garnett, thence to Mapleton and Fort Scott.'’® In 1866 a road was
established from Lawrence, by way of Lecompton, to Tecumseh,
while another ran from Leavenworth, by way of Big Stranger bridge,
Berry’s store on Tonganoxie creek and Nine Mile house on Ten
Mile creek, to Lawrence.l'* This was practically the last of the
state roads laid out affecting Lawrence. There were many county
roads laid out from time to time, but space prevents mention of
them.

John C. Fremont passed through the site of Lawrence in the early
1840’s. Capt. J. W. Gunnison also passed through on his ill-fated
expedition in 1853. Horace Greeley was also an early visitor, when
he came up the Kaw valley in 1859 on his westward journey. Albert
D. Richardson, a visitor in the territory in 1859, crossed the river
on the Baldwin ferry and gave an account of the crossing and an
illustration of the ferry, on page 35 of his book, Beyond the Mvs-
sissippi.

Early in April, 1861, streams of emigrant wagons wended their
way through the city. They were usually loaded with the house-
hold goods of the family, sacks and boxes of grain and seed, and live
stock. As soon as spring had fairly arrived, from 30 to 100 teams
daily crossed at this ferry, many of them belonging to persons from
southern Kansas counties who were on their way to or from Leaven-
worth and, according to a local paper, this travel gave some idea
of the want of a bridge.11®

While much trade reached Lawrence from surrounding territory
via Baldwin’s ferry and roads much of the travel did not stop in
that city. An item from a Leavenworth paper copied into the

112. Laws, Kansas, 1864, pp. 204-209.

1138. Ibid., 1865, pp. 140, 142, 148.

114. Ibid., 1866, pp. 224, 225, 227.
115. Kansas State Journal, Lawrence, April 11, May 9, 15861
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Journal, of December 11, 1862, says: “The travel between here
and Lawrence was never so large as now. The receipts of the ferry
at that place sometimes reached seventy-five dollars a day. A
bridge there would add thousands upon thousands to our trade.”

When ice broke up on the river each year that was an additional
hazard to be reckoned with. On February 15, 1862, ice went out
rather unexpectedly, and the ferry boat had a narrow escape from
sudden destruction. A wagon that had been partly run aboard was
destroyed by the rush of ice11®

The drouth of 1860 had its effect on the ferry business on the
Kansas river. The “June rize,” which river men talked about, had
not manifested itself. During the early summer Indians who lived
along the river said that the river had never been lower than it
then was. Teams daily forded it a few rods above the ferry. The
following winter moving ice for a time suspended operations of the
ferry, much to the inconvenience of great numbers of teams en-
camped on the banks of the river. However, by hitching cattle to
the boat on each side of the river, crossing was resumed. The
operators of the ferry were frequently obliged to spend large sums
and much labor in opening a way through the ice. Early in 1861 a
local paper, in commenting on the situation, stated that few men
have any idea of the amount of travel over the ferry at that place.!'?

James Baldwin, son of the original owner of the ferry, became
one of the owners in the early ’60’s.118

Another ferry was projected for Lawrence early in 1861 when
Caleb S. Pratt and Horace L. Enos obtained a charter from the
legislature that year for the Lawrence Ferry Company. This act
granted charter rights for fourteen years for a ferry site and for
exclusive privileges for one mile up and one mile down the river.
They were also granted the right to construct as many roads or ways
to the ferry as was deemed necessary.1'® No further history of this
ferry has been located.

The levee was a popular and convenient site and served the needs
of the community in other ways than strictly as a ferry landing.
The Journal, of June 12, 1862, contained the following: “Last
Sunday evening quite a number of our citizens assembled on the
levee to witness the immersion of a couple of colored persons. The
ceremony was well conducted and novel to many present.”

116. Ibid., Feb, 19, 1862.

117. Ibid., 1861,

118. Ibid., May 7, 1863.

119. Laws, Kansas, 1861, pp. 36, 87
. PI ’
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The first move for a bridge at Lawrence over the Kansas river
was in 1857, when the legislature granted a charter to the Lawrence
Bridge Company.’? No bridge was begun under this act. A new
charter was obtained in 1858, which was amended in 1859, but
nothing was done until 1863, when work started, and the bridge was
finished late that year.'*!

By the early 1870’s there developed a strong sentiment for a free
bridge at Lawrence. The officers of the bridge company were asked
to =ell but apparently turned a deaf ear to the proposition. The
income from tolls was evidently satisfactory to the bridge officials.

Dissatisfaction with the toll bridge grew as time passed, and in
1871 a steam ferry was put into operation to relieve the situation.
This boat went into service about June, 1871, and almost revolu-
tionized the transportation business at this point. Dr. Edward
Bumgardner, of Lawrence, in an article on Lawrence ferries pub-
lished in the Journal-World of May 30, 1933, has this to say of the
steam ferry:

“Dissatisfaction became so great [with the toll bridgel that the city em-
ployed James C. Wilson to operate a ferry in competition.

“Mr. Wilson had the first portable steam threshing-machine engine that had
been brought to this part of the state, and this was used to operate the ferry.
Two great cast iron wheels were made at the Kimball Bros. Iron Foundry.
These wheels, placed on opposite sides of the river, acted as pulleys to carry a
continuous wire cable to which the ferryboat was attached. The toll in the
ferry was fixed at 25 cents for a round trip, while the bridge company charged
25 cents each way. This ferry was satisfactory for a time, though Mr. Wilson
had a serious accident in operating it.

“Once, in 1871, the wheel on the south side of the river became loose on its
axle by the displacement of the key by which it was attached so that the eable
would not run. Mr. Wilson rearranged the wheel and drove the key to place so
as to make the wheel tight on the axle. At that moment his helper started the
engine and Mr. Wilson's right hand was instantly cut off by being caught be-
tween the wheel and the cable.”

The two items following not only give additional information but
also furnish a graphic description of the new enterprise:

“The city of Lawrence has lately established a steam ferry which carries
passengers and freight free. The engine which drives the boat is stationary.
We do not understand the arrangements, but have been informed that the
power is applied by means of an endless chain. The Lawrence experiment is a
success. It has crossed six hundred teams in a single day. Tt carries six loaded
teams and any number of footmen at a trip, and makes the trip in two
minutes. This is much less time than it takes a team to walk across the bridge.

120. Ibid., 18567, p. 148

121. Private Laws, Kansas, 1858, pp. 41, 42;: 1850, p. 28: Kansas State Journal, Law-
rence, April 30, 1863.
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The cost of this ferry, exclusive of the franchise, was five thousand dollars.”—
Alma Union, June 15, 1871.

“A small frame building on the left bank of the river containing a ten-horse
power portable engine, from the driving wheel of which runs a band which
passes over another wheel attached to a frame work. To this is also attached
a grooved wheel, five feet in diameter, over which passes an endless wire cable,
1,370 feet in length. This passes also through three upright standards of heavy
timber, at each end and in the middle, respectively, of the boat, on one side,
thence over a grooved wheel in a frame upon the opposite bank, similar to
that in the engine room. Upon a raised and covered platform on the boat
sits the pilot, with his hand upon a brake, with which, alternately, he firmly
holds the upper and lower strands of the wire cable, according to which side of
the river the boat is to be drawn; this is the point of attachment of the mov-
ing force. A wave of the pilot’s hand and the engineer turns on the steam, the
driving wheel of the engine, together with the eable upon the grooved wheels
on either bank, revolve and the boat shoots across the river in one minute, by
the watch, much faster than a team would ordinarily trot across the rival
bridge, if allowed to. The ferry will carry six heavy-loaded teams at a trip,
besides several foot passengers. It has carried 728 teams and 3,200 foot pas-
sengers during one day’s operation. It has crossed the river in the short space
of forty seconds, although from one to one and one-half minutes is generally
consumed at a trip. It makes from 250 to 300 trips per day. The expense of
operating it, including the hire of three men, ete., is $12 per day. Kimball Bros.,
of this city, who are the inventors of this improved ferry, have applied for a
patent. . . .—Lawrence Republican Journal, June 16, 1871.

This free ferry was cutting into the profits of the toll bridge
company and something had to be done about it. In 1872 the
bridge company obtained an injunction against the ferry, on the
ground that it was a “floating bridge.”” The bridge company in the
meantime had been obliged to reduce tolls to a minimum while the
ferry was in operation, but as soon as the injunction had been
obtained toll rates went back to former prices. The injunction suit
was finally tried and resulted in favor of the ferry. All this time
the eampaign for a free bridge went steadily—if not merrily—on.
It became a political issue in the spring election of 1873. A local
paper, speaking of the toll bridge, said;

“It is an incubus that should have been removed years ago, and could have

been, and would have been, had it not been for the fact that the bridge com-
pany had too many advocates in the city council, and county boards.
Public sentiment has been in favor of a free bridge for the past ten years, but
the bridge company have so manipulated those in authority that this sentiment
has not availed anything. . . . This monopoly . . . is taking from
twenty to thirty thousand dollars out of our city every year, a good part of
which is invested in Chicago real estate 122

122. Daily Kansas Tribune, Lawrence, April 4, 1878,
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This same authority exhorted the farmers and others who had
occeasion to eross the river with teams to patronize the ferry, because
the charges were the same, and the ferry could not be run unless it
was better patronized. The ferry's prices had been met by the

bridge company, and it was presumed that in case the ferry was
discontinued the toll rates would be raised to the old figure.'**

The steam ferry was doing a thriving business in the spring of
1873. A Mr. Morton had the contract for running it, and the follow-
ing rates charged by him for crossing were certainly attractive to
those having occasion to visit the opposite side of the river: 1 horse,
214, cents; 1 horse and vehicle, 5 cents; 2 horses and vehicle, 5
cents: 4 horses and vehicle, 7% cents. Foot passengers free. The
fact that the bridge company was obliged to meet this rate in order
to get any patronage '** prompted a Marysville paper to remark
that the ferry was “playing smash with the bridge company.” 15
Another item from the same source was to the effect that “Lawrence
is hot about her bridge affairs. She has a toll bridge that don’t give
satisfaction, and therefore a ferry has been established to connect
her with the railroad on the north side of the Kaw.” %6

The campaign of the Tribune for a free bridge brought on about
the hottest fight staged in that city up to that time, and a mayor
and council who, during the campaign, professed to be favorable
to the free bridge proposition had been elected. Their apparent
reluctance in taking action in the bridge controversy caused the
Lawrence people to regard them as more favorable to the bridge
company than to her own citizens. The Tribune asked why the
city attorney had not done his full duty in regard to the injunction
that had been obtained against the ferry, and added:

“Tt is a matter of surprise to us that any court could ever put on glasses with
magnifying power enough to magnify a ferry boat into a floating bridge.
That floating-bridge dodge was pretty thin; but thick enough to put about
$£20,000 of the people’s money into the pockets of Babcock & Co. They can
well afford to pay damages, and the city should make them to do it.” 127

Within the next thirty days the Tribune suggested that the city
council should appoint a committee to examine the bridge, and if it
was found unsafe to have it condemned and abated as a common

123. Ibid

124. Ibid., March 22, 1873.

125. Marshall County News, Marysville, March 29, 1873.

126. Ibid., April 25, 1878.
127. Daily Kansas Tribune, Lawrence, April 9, 1873.
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